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(i)

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether this Court should imply a private cause of action
under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act against
vendors whose transactions with a publicly traded company
were improperly accounted for by the public company in its
financial statements, when the plaintiff—an investor in the
public company—did not rely on the transactions or on any
statement by the vendors, and the vendors did not use or em-
ploy a deceptive device in connection with the purchase or
sale of a security.



ii

RULES 14.1(B) AND 29.6 STATEMENT

All parties to the proceeding in the Eighth Circuit are
identified in the caption.

The corporate disclosure statements of Motorola, Inc. and
Scientific-Atlanta, Inc. are set forth in their briefs in opposi-
tion to certiorari.
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STATEMENT

Plaintiff alleges that defendants Motorola, Inc. and Scien-
tific-Atlanta, Inc. (the “Vendors”) entered into separate
transactions to sell electronic equipment to their customer
Charter Communications, Inc. (“Charter”). It further alleges
that the Vendors knew or should have known that Charter
would account for these transactions improperly in order to
inflate its financial results. According to plaintiff’s own alle-
gations, Charter’s mischaracterization of the Vendors’ trans-
actions was an immaterially small part of a long-running
fraud by Charter that affected virtually every aspect of its op-
erations and that led Charter, upon disclosure of its mis-
statements, to lose billions of dollars in stock market value.

The Vendors accounted for the transactions correctly, re-
cording no net gain. They dealt only with Charter, which
alone was fully aware of the facts. They had no involvement
in the preparation or review of Charter’s financial statements,
and they made no statements to Charter’s investors or ac-
countants and had no duty to do so. Nothing in Charter’s
public financial statements or other announcements to inves-
tors identified the transactions with the Vendors. Plaintiff
does not allege that any investor knew of Charter’s transac-
tions with the Vendors, let alone relied on them or on any
statement by the Vendors when trading Charter securities.

The Eighth Circuit correctly held that plaintiff’s allega-
tions amount at most to a claim that the Vendors aided and
abetted Charter’s fraud—a claim barred by Central Bank v.
First Interstate Bank, 511 U.S. 164 (1994). Plaintiff contends
that this suit should proceed because the Vendors engaged in
deceptive conduct as part of a “scheme to defraud.” That ex-
pansive theory of liability would gut Central Bank, turning
product manufacturers who do business with a customer into
“primary violators” potentially liable for unlimited market
losses suffered by the customer’s investors. The result here
would be that Motorola and Scientific-Atlanta shareholders



2

would have to compensate Charter shareholders for a fraud
committed by Charter’s own management.

By labeling a transaction as a “sham,” the “scheme” the-
ory would impose upon anyone doing business with a public
company legal responsibility for that company’s financial
reporting. This would leave vendors in the United States and
abroad—as well as other commercial partners, lenders, ac-
countants, and lawyers—open to Section 10(b) class action
liabilities so disproportionate to any business they might
have conducted that irresistible pressure to settle even merit-
less claims would result.

Plaintiff’s “scheme” liability theory would negate Central
Bank’s requirement that a plaintiff establish reliance, an ele-
ment “critical for recovery under 10b-5,” on a defendant-by-
defendant basis. 511 U.S. at 180. It also conflicts with the
plain language of Section 10(b), which requires that the de-
fendant itself must have used or employed a deceptive device
in connection with the purchase or sale of a security. None of
those elements is satisfied here. And it contradicts Con-
gress’s deliberate policy decision in Section 20(e), 15 U.S.C.
§ 78t(e), a provision added by the Private Securities Litiga-
tion Reform Act (PSLRA) that gave the SEC broad powers
over secondary actors while rejecting efforts to create a pri-
vate cause of action for these claims.

The “implied” cause of action plaintiff asks this Court to
create is wholly untethered. No guidance as to its contours is
found in the express provisions of the securities laws creating
secondary liability. And the federal courts would have to en-
gage in a massive round of common law policy-making to
determine how reliance, materiality, and loss causation,
among other elements, apply to scheme allegations against
remote contributors to a fraud—contentious issues that would
have to be resolved to flesh out this far-reaching new implied
cause of action. Such issues, as the Eighth Circuit held,
should be left to Congress.
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A. The Statutory And Regulatory Background.

This Court held in Central Bank that Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 do not create liability for aiding and abetting se-
curities fraud. The Court concluded that Section 10(b) “pro-
hibits only the making of a material misstatement (or
omission) or the commission of a manipulative act” and con-
firmed that plaintiffs “may not bring a 10b-5 suit against a
defendant for acts not prohibited by the text of § 10(b).” 511
U.S. at 173, 177. A “secondary actor”—such as “a lawyer,
accountant, or bank”—that “employs a manipulative device
or makes a material misstatement (or omission) on which a
purchaser or seller of securities relies may be liable as a
primary violator under 10b-5,” but only if “all of the re-
quirements for primary liability under Rule 10b-5 are met.”
Id. at 191 (second emphasis in original).

A year after Central Bank, Congress in the PSLRA re-
stored SEC enforcement authority over aiders and abettors,
but refused to allow private parties to bring such suits. Sec-
tion 20(e), 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e), entitled “Prosecution of per-
sons who aid and abet violations,” establishes that in an
action brought by the SEC “any person that knowingly pro-
vides substantial assistance” to a primary violator “shall be
deemed to be in violation of [the Exchange Act] to the same
extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided.”

Congress deliberately left intact Central Bank’s prohibi-
tion of aiding and abetting claims by private plaintiffs. The
SEC had argued that Congress should “restore the aiding and
abetting liability eliminated in” Central Bank. S. Rep. No.
104-98, at 48 (1995). SEC Chairman Arthur Levitt testified
that the decision “does away with claims against a whole
class of defendants”; he warned that those “whose assistance
or acquiescence may have been necessary to the fraud, or
who may have been acting behind the scenes, but who did
not themselves directly make statements that were relied
upon by investors, may escape any liability to private parties”
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under Central Bank.1 Congress rejected the SEC’s proposal.
The Senate Report explained that authorizing “private aiding
and abetting liability actions under Section 10(b) would be
contrary to [the PSLRA’s] goal of reducing meritless securi-
ties litigation.” S. Rep. No. 104-98, at 19.

Congress revisited the issue again in 2002 when it con-
sidered the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Some legislators argued in
favor of amending the 1934 Act to subject aiders and abettors
to private suits. E.g., H.R. Rep. No. 107-414, at 54 (2002);
148 Cong. Rec. S6584 (daily ed. July 10, 2002). But al-
though the statute enabled the SEC to distribute administra-
tive recoveries to investors and modified the limitations
period governing private lawsuits (15 U.S.C. §§ 1658, 7246),
it did not extend private civil liability to aiders and abettors.

B. The Vendors’ Transactions With Charter.

1. Scientific-Atlanta and Motorola manufacture cable
boxes and sell them to cable television providers like Charter,
which install them in subscribers’ homes. AC ¶¶ 22, 34-35,
75.2 These “set-top” boxes enable subscribers to access cable
television programming and other services. Pet. App. 36a.

Plaintiff alleges that the Vendors are liable under Section
10(b) for engaging in business transactions with Charter,
which Charter later accounted for improperly in its financial
statements. In these transactions, plaintiff asserts, Charter
agreed to pay the Vendors an additional $20 for each set-top

1 Abandonment of the Private Right of Action for Aiding and Abet-
ting Sec. Fraud: Hearing before the Subcomm. on Sec. of the Sen.
Comm. on Banking, Hous., & Urb. Aff., 103d Cong. 82, 83 (1994).
2 The Amended Class Action Complaint (“AC”) is reproduced in
the appendix to Scientific-Atlanta’s Brief in Opposition. That com-
plaint was the subject of the district court’s ruling on the Vendors’
motions to dismiss. As we explain (p. 11, infra), the district court
denied leave to file the Second Amended Complaint reproduced in
the joint appendix.
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box purchased during the fourth quarter of 2000 (six percent
of the $350 price of a box).3 The Vendors, in turn, agreed to
pay Charter the same amount to support Charter’s advertising
of digital cable services and equipment. AC ¶¶ 76-77.

Plaintiff alleges that these transactions were proposed by
Charter, an important customer of the Vendors, to enable
Charter to cover a revenue shortfall. AC ¶¶ 75-80; Pet. Br. 5-
6.4 Plaintiff labels these transactions “kickback arrange-
ments” and a “sham.” AC ¶¶ 7, 76-77. But plaintiff does not
dispute that the Vendors delivered set-top boxes to Charter,
or that the Vendors paid Charter for advertising. Nor does
plaintiff allege that no advertising was prepared or aired.

2. As the district court explained, “[i]n 2000, the digital
set-top was a relatively new product, and cable operators
such as Charter marketed its new features to prospective and
existing cable customers.” Pet. App. 36a. Advertising agree-
ments were common among cable operators, who wanted
new subscribers, and equipment suppliers, whose sales were
driven by subscriber growth. See CA Br. of Appellee Scien-
tific-Atlanta 7; AC ¶ 146. More generally, “reciprocal deal-
ing” such as cooperative advertising is recognized as a
“useful business practice” for companies “entering into a ma-
jor contract for products or services.” Teachers’ Ret. Sys. v.
Hunter, 477 F.3d 162, 178 (4th Cir. 2007).

Plaintiff acknowledges (AC ¶ 80) that there were legiti-
mate methods of accounting for reciprocal marketing transac-
tions. But a host of accounting issues confronted an

3 Compl. ¶ 9, SEC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., No. 06 Civ. 4823
(S.D.N.Y.), available at http://tinyurl.com/3chwzw.
4 The SEC’s cease-and-desist order against Charter likewise states
that “Charter devised a scheme to get advertising business from its
digital set-top box suppliers.” In re Charter Commc’ns, Inc., Ex-
change Act Release No. 50,098, at ¶ 13 (July 27, 2004) (emphasis
added), available at http://tinyurl.com/2nzsfs.
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equipment buyer engaged in such a transaction. In 2000, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board had just begun to
consider the complex questions involved. The Board saw the
vendor’s and the customer’s accounting obligations as sepa-
rate matters—with no suggestion that an equipment seller
should be held responsible for the buyer’s choice of how to
account for the transaction. And it had not yet issued specific
guidance regarding the treatment each party should use.5

3. Charter consulted its auditor, Arthur Andersen, re-
garding how Charter should account for the transactions with
the Vendors. AC ¶ 80. Andersen allegedly advised Charter
that it should not recognize the Vendors’ payments as adver-
tising revenue because “they appeared integrally related to
the cost increases being paid by Charter.” Ibid. Andersen said
Charter could recognize the advertising fees as revenues only
if the set-top box payments and advertising fees were at fair
market value, unrelated, and negotiated at least a month
apart. Ibid. The complaint alleges that a Charter executive
told Andersen “that Charter would fulfill those conditions,”
but later “falsely told Arthur Andersen that the advertising
and supply contracts” had been “negotiated by two separate
departments at Charter a month apart.” Ibid. The complaint
thus asserts that Charter misled Andersen regarding the rela-
tionship between the transactions and overstated its earnings
by immediately recognizing the advertising payments as
revenue while capitalizing the added cost of the set-top boxes
and depreciating it over time. AC ¶¶ 7, 80. The complaint
does not allege that the Vendors were aware that Charter was
misleading its auditors.

5 See Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Cus-
tomer, Emerging Issues Task Force, Issue No. 01-9 (FASB 2001),
available at http://tinyurl.com/2qb9x2; Accounting by a Customer
(Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a
Vendor, Emerging Issues Task Force, Issue No. 02-16 (FASB
2002), available at http://tinyurl.com/2mhej8.
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Plaintiff does not dispute, moreover, that the Vendors’
own accounting for the transactions was proper. The Vendors
appropriately booked the sales proceeds as revenue and the
advertising payments as an offset to revenue—which had no
net impact on their financial statements. See CA Br. of Ap-
pellee Scientific-Atlanta 7.

C. Plaintiff Seeks To Hold The Vendors Liable For
Charter’s Multi-Faceted Scheme To Defraud.

1. Plaintiff filed a putative class action on behalf of Char-
ter’s stockholders, making claims under Section 10(b) against
Charter, Charter executives, Arthur Andersen, and the Ven-
dors. Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, at issue here, alleges
that from November 1999 to July 2002 Charter engaged in a
“multi-prong scheme” to inflate revenues and cash flow. AC
¶¶ 8-9. Plaintiff asserts that Charter misrepresented its finan-
cial position to investors by falsely doubling its actual growth
rate (AC ¶ 4), improperly capitalizing $145 million in labor
costs (¶¶ 6, 64e), and improperly deferring $59 million in
marketing expenses (¶ 64h), resulting in overstating operat-
ing cash flow (¶ 71). A restatement by Charter of its financial
reports issued in April 2003 indicated that Charter’s operat-
ing cash flow had been inflated by $292 million in 2001 and
$195 million in 2000, for a total of $487 million. AC ¶ 15.

Plaintiff also alleged that Charter inflated its internal cus-
tomer growth rate by delaying disconnection for non-paying
customers (AC ¶ 5), double-counting and misclassifying sub-
scribers (¶ 53d-e), and making up fictitious subscriber ac-
counts (¶ 55). Plaintiff asserts that Charter’s false announce-
ment that it achieved the best customer growth rate in the in-
dustry was especially important to analysts and the market.
AC ¶¶ 49-51.

Plaintiff states that these practices inflated Charter’s
stock price to a class-period high of $26.31 per share. AC
¶ 10. Following disclosure of the initiation of a criminal in-
vestigation, Charter’s stock price fell to $3.50 in July 2002
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and $0.76 in October 2002. AC ¶ 16, 147. With 295 million
shares outstanding, Charter’s loss of market value from its
stock price high to its October low exceeded $7 billion. Char-
ter executives ultimately were indicted and convicted for a
broad range of misconduct. The SEC also issued a cease-and-
desist order against Charter.

In contrast to the massive size and broad scope of Char-
ter’s fraud, plaintiff alleges that Charter’s improper account-
ing for both Vendors’ advertising payments inflated
Charter’s operating cash flow for a single quarter by $17
million, i.e., only 3.5% of the total inflation alleged. AC ¶ 79.
Yet plaintiff seeks to hold the Vendors liable for Charter’s
entire loss of common stock value. AC ¶¶ 196-197 (alleging
that Vendors acted knowingly or recklessly); see 15 U.S.C.
§ 78u-4(f)(2)(A) (joint and several liability for knowing vio-
lations of the securities laws).

2. Charter’s fraudulent accounting practices relating to its
own financial statements are at the heart of plaintiff’s claims.
AC ¶¶ 78-80. But plaintiff does not allege that the Vendors
had any control over the financial reporting of Charter, an
independent company, or that they “played any role in pre-
paring or disseminating the fraudulent financial statements
and press releases through which Charter published its decep-
tion to analysts and investors.” Pet. App. 4a.

Instead, plaintiff baldly asserts that the Vendors knew or
recklessly disregarded Charter’s intent to use the transactions
to inflate its reported revenue. AC ¶ 196. The only allegation
offered to support this assertion is that the set-top box con-
tracts “were back dated to August 2000 on the instructions”
of Charter executives to give the “appearance that the set-top
box price agreements were negotiated a month before the ad-
vertising contracts which were dated in late September.” AC
¶ 80. But the complaint alleges that it was Charter that used
inaccurate characterizations of the transactions to satisfy its
accountants. Ibid. The complaint does not claim that anything
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the Vendors did deceived their counter-party, Charter, or that
the Vendors ever provided information to Charter’s account-
ants or any Charter shareholder.

Moreover, although plaintiff alleges that Charter’s fraud
inflated total earnings (AC ¶ 79), it does not claim that Char-
ter’s financial statements disclosed the transactions, or Char-
ter’s accounting treatment of them, or any statements or
conduct by the Vendors.6 Plaintiff pleads no facts showing
that it or other investors were even aware of the contracts at
issue, still less that their decision to purchase or sell Charter’s
stock was influenced by the existence of these contracts or
the immaterial amount of revenue they generated for Charter.

In its brief to this Court plaintiff now asserts (at 6-9) that
the Vendors agreed to help Charter deceive its accountants.
But the Amended Complaint alleges no particular facts giv-
ing rise to a strong inference that the Vendors had such an
intent or any facts suggesting that such an agreement existed.
See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). The extra-record material cited
by plaintiff shows the opposite. The indictment of Charter’s
senior executives states that they falsely told their employee
who negotiated with the Vendors “that Arthur Andersen had
approved the transaction[s].” The executives told him how to
document the transactions and he relayed that instruction to
the Vendors.7 Plaintiff pleaded no facts showing that the
Vendors knew Charter’s executives were deceiving Ander-
sen, let alone that the Vendors intended to help them do so.8

6 The Form 10-K cited by amici Ohio et al. (at 6 n.5) does not
mention the transactions. See http://tinyurl.com/yrogg6.
7 United States v. Barford, No. 4:03CR00434, ¶¶ 22-23 (E.D. Mo.
July 24, 2003), available at http://tinyurl.com/2pwrwk.
8 Plaintiff relies (at 11) on SEC proceedings involving a different
cable provider, Adelphia. But the SEC in Adelphia did not seek to
hold the Vendors primarily liable for Adelphia’s fraud (as plaintiff
does here). Instead, it charged Scientific-Atlanta with aiding and
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40a. In this Court, plaintiff does not take issue with any of
the district court’s statements concerning the complaint.

E. The District Court Denied Plaintiff’s Motion For
Leave To File A Second Amended Complaint.

After dismissal, plaintiff moved for leave to file a Second
Amended Complaint (SAC). JA 15a. That complaint, like
plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, did not allege that the Ven-
dors communicated with Charter’s auditors or investors, did
not challenge the Vendors’ own accounting for the transac-
tions with Charter, and did not allege that no advertising was
run (but added allegations that the Vendors paid excessive
rates for advertising, SAC ¶ 106).

Plaintiff did more fully allege that the Vendors knew or
recklessly disregarded that Charter intended to account for
the transactions improperly and to deceive its auditors. The
Second Amended Complaint alleged that the Vendors’ reck-
less disregard may be inferred because it is “common knowl-
edge” that equipment purchases are capitalized and that
media companies recognize revenue when advertisements are
run (SAC ¶¶ 10, 98-100); because Scientific-Atlanta, at
Charter’s request, sent Charter a letter stating incorrectly that
the $20 per box price increase was due to increased manufac-
turing costs (SAC ¶ 102); and because the Vendors changed
the date of the price increase agreements from September to
August, as Charter separately requested of each. SAC ¶ 110.

The district court denied leave to amend the complaint. It
held that plaintiff’s new allegations did nothing to correct the
defects identified in the dismissal order, so amendment
would be futile. Pet. App. 27a-28a; see SEC v. U.S. Envt’l,
Inc., 155 F.3d 107, 111 (2d Cir. 1998) (whether a defendant
is “a primary violator rather than an aider and abettor turns
on the nature of his acts, not on his state of mind”).
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F. The Court Of Appeals Unanimously Affirmed.

The Eighth Circuit affirmed dismissal of the Amended
Complaint. Plaintiff sought to evade Central Bank—which
involved claims brought under Rule 10b-5(b)—by arguing
that the Vendors could be held liable as primary violators un-
der Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).9 The Eighth Circuit rejected that
tactic, relying on “three governing principles.” Pet. App. 8a.
First, Central Bank’s “categorical declaration that a private
plaintiff ‘may not bring a 10b-5 suit against a defendant for
acts not prohibited by the text of § 10(b)’ included claims
under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), as well as Rule 10b-5(b).” Sec-
ond, “[a] device or contrivance is not ‘deceptive,’ within the
meaning of § 10(b), absent some misstatement or a failure to
disclose by one who has a duty to disclose.” Third, “[t]he
term ‘manipulative’ in § 10(b) has the limited contextual
meaning ascribed in Santa Fe,” which defined “manipula-
tion” to mean practices “that are intended to mislead inves-
tors by artificially affecting market activity.” Ibid.; Santa Fe
Indus. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476 (1977).

Applying these principles, the Eighth Circuit held that the
Vendors could not be liable for “deceptive” conduct because
they “did not issue any misstatement relied upon by the in-
vesting public, nor were they under a duty to Charter inves-
tors and analysts to disclose information useful in evaluating
Charter’s true financial condition.” Pet. App. 10a. Plaintiff
thus based its complaint against the Vendors on “nothing
more than claims, barred by Central Bank, that the Vendors
knowingly aided and abetted the Charter defendants in de-
ceiving the investor plaintiffs.” Ibid. In so holding, the court
noted that it was “aware of no case imposing § 10(b) or Rule

9 On appeal, plaintiff abandoned its claim that “the Vendors’ con-
duct rose to the level of a misstatement.” CA Opening Brief of
Plaintiff-Appellant 5 n.3; see AC ¶ 197. Plaintiff’s question pre-
sented to this Court accordingly assumes that the Vendors made no
public misstatements. Pet. i.
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10b-5 liability on a business that entered into an arm’s length
non-securities transaction with an entity that then used the
transaction to publish false and misleading statements to its
investors and analysts.” Ibid. The court cautioned that impos-
ing liability under these circumstances “would introduce po-
tentially far-reaching duties and uncertainties for those
engaged in day-to-day business dealings,” and that such a
decision “should be made by Congress.” Ibid.

Finally, the Eighth Circuit held that the district court did
not abuse its discretion in denying plaintiff’s motion to
amend the complaint. Pet. App. 11a.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Prior to Central Bank plaintiffs sought to impose liability
on defendants whose conduct allegedly facilitated a public
company’s fraud—but whose conduct was not relied on by
investors—by accusing them of “aiding and abetting.” After
this Court held that Section 10(b) does not create a private
cause of action against aiders and abettors, plaintiffs changed
the label of their claim to “scheme liability.” As every court
of appeals to address this question other than the Ninth Cir-
cuit has concluded, this subterfuge is barred by Central Bank.

Central Bank held that a private damages action for aid-
ing and abetting was precluded for four independent reasons.
First, this Court recognized that such an action “would disre-
gard the careful limits on 10b-5 recovery mandated by our
earlier cases”—most notably “the reliance requirement.” 511
U.S. at 180. Second, aiding and abetting does not fall within
“the scope of conduct prohibited by Section 10(b),” as dem-
onstrated by the plain language and structure of the Exchange
Act. Id. at 172-173. Third, Congress in 1934 “would not have
attached aiding and abetting liability to § 10(b) had it pro-
vided a private § 10(b) cause of action,” as shown by the
limitations it imposed on express causes of action it did cre-
ate. Fourth, “[p]olicy considerations” arising from the
uniquely burdensome nature of private securities litigation
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confirmed the Court’s conclusion. Id. at 179, 188-190. Each
of these holdings applies equally to scheme liability claims.

First, plaintiff’s own theory of the case establishes that
its “scheme allegations” cannot satisfy the “critical” reliance
requirement. Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 180. Under Central
Bank a private Section 10(b) plaintiff must show reliance on
each individual defendant’s misstatement or omission. Ibid.
Plaintiff alleges that it relied on Charter’s false financial
statement, but does not claim that the Vendors made any
public misstatement, or owed any duty to Charter investors to
speak, or that plaintiff was even aware of the Vendors’ con-
duct. Plaintiff’s theory that an investor relies on every action
that played a role in facilitating a public company’s misrep-
resentation cannot be reconciled with Central Bank and
would effectively eliminate the reliance requirement.

When it enacted Section 20(e) in response to Central
Bank, Congress reaffirmed that the implied damages action
does not reach secondary actors who make no statements re-
lied on by investors. Congress granted the SEC authority to
obtain relief against those who aid and abet false communi-
cations but rejected the SEC’s request that it restore private
aiding and abetting liability for defendants who “did not
themselves directly make statements that were relied upon by
investors.” See pp. 3-4, supra. Section 20(e) defines aiding
and abetting as “provid[ing] substantial assistance” to a pri-
mary violator—precisely what the Vendors are accused of
here.

Second, the language and structure of the 1934 Act con-
firm that Congress did not intend to turn product suppliers,
who do not speak to investors, into watchdogs for the ac-
counting practices of public companies. The conduct alleged
does not satisfy the plain language of Section 10(b) because
the Vendors did not “use or employ” a “deceptive device” “in
connection with” the purchase or sale of a security. Charter,
not the Vendors, “used or employed” deception in communi-
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cating with investors. And because there was no nexus be-
tween the Vendors’ alleged conduct and plaintiff’s trading in
Charter securities, that conduct was not “in connection with”
securities trading.

Third, the Court’s interpretation of private Section 10(b)
actions has been guided by the express causes of action in the
securities laws. Those express private actions preclude
scheme liability, as does Congress’s explicit provision for
liability for secondary actors, which is limited to “control
persons.” Extending the implied private right of action to
cover secondary actors would not only disregard this express
statutory language, but also would necessitate rewriting the
requirements of reliance, materiality, and loss causation,
forcing courts to engage in extensive lawmaking.

Finally, policy considerations regarded by this Court as
important in prior Section 10(b) decisions require rejection of
scheme liability. Extending liability to secondary actors with
a remote connection to the fraud—through a nebulous “pur-
pose and effect” test that makes it impossible to obtain dis-
missal—would invite abuse. Pressure on secondary actors to
settle would be magnified by rules that make knowing viola-
tors responsible for the entire fraud. Investors would be
harmed as suppliers, lenders, and professionals declined ser-
vice or increased prices to compensate for increased risk.

Implied private suits are unnecessary to deter secondary
actors from participating in a public company’s fraud or to
compensate investors. Section 20(e) empowers the SEC to
punish aiders and abettors with civil penalties and to use dis-
gorgement to compensate investors. Criminal prosecution by
the Department of Justice and state officials further deters
involvement in fraud. Affirmance here will sustain Con-
gress’s policy judgment that private plaintiffs should not be
allowed to impose aiding and abetting liability, a judgment
they may not evade simply by changing the label of their
claim to “scheme liability.”
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ARGUMENT

I. LIABILITY IS PRECLUDED IN THIS CASE BY
CENTRAL BANK’S RELIANCE REQUIREMENT,
THE LANGUAGE OF EXCHANGE ACT SEC-
TIONS 10(b) AND 20(e), AND ESTABLISHED LIM-
ITS ON JUDICIALLY IMPLIED CAUSES OF
ACTION.

Central Bank drew a bright line between “giving aid to a
person who commits” a deceptive practice, which is not ac-
tionable in a private damages suit under Section 10(b), and
committing deceptive practices in connection with the pur-
chase or sale of a security, which does fall within Section
10(b)’s proscription provided all the elements of liability are
met. 511 U.S. at 177-178. In dismissing plaintiff’s complaint
the Eighth Circuit properly held that the Vendors could not
be liable for using or employing a “deceptive act” in connec-
tion with the purchase or sale of a security because they “did
not issue any misstatement relied upon by the investing pub-
lic, nor were they under a duty to Charter investors and ana-
lysts to disclose information useful in evaluating Charter’s
true financial condition.” Pet. App. 10a.

Plaintiff acknowledges that the Vendors “made no public
statements concerning [the] transactions” at issue. Pet. Br. i;
see Pl. C.A. Br. 5 n.3 (abandoning claim that “Vendors’ con-
duct rose to the level of a misstatement”); Pet. App. 10a.
Plaintiff has not alleged that Vendors owed a duty of disclo-
sure to Charter shareholders, which would arise only from a
“specific relationship” of “trust and confidence” absent here.
Pet. App. 41a; Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 180; Chiarella v.
United States, 445 U.S. 222, 233 (1980). And plaintiff has
not alleged that the Vendors engaged in manipulation—a
“term of art” that refers to illegal trading practices such as
“wash sales, matched orders, or rigged prices.” Santa Fe, 430
U.S. at 476-477. Accordingly, the Eighth Circuit was correct
in holding that the test for primary liability in Central Bank is
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not satisfied. The Vendors were at most aiders and abettors
of Charter’s fraud.

Plaintiff nevertheless asserts that the Vendors are liable
because they engaged in transactions that Charter subse-
quently accounted for improperly after misleading its audi-
tors. Plaintiff alleges that the Vendors independently
provided documents to Charter alone, at Charter’s request,
misstating the reason for the set-top box price increase and
the date of that increase. According to plaintiff, because these
documents were used by Charter to advance its far-reaching
scheme to inflate its financial results, the Vendors should be
liable for all of Charter investors’ losses, even though the
Vendors accounted for the transactions properly and Char-
ter’s investors did not rely on—indeed were unaware of—the
transactions and documents at issue.

Central Bank bars this claim. It makes clear that a private
damages action under Section 10(b) is valid only where “all
of the requirements for primary liability under Rule 10b-5 are
met.” 511 U.S. at 191. Here, none of the requirements for
primary liability is satisfied.

A. Scheme Liability Claims Cannot Satisfy Section
10(b)’s Reliance Requirement.

We begin with the question of reliance because that issue
was addressed in Central Bank in terms that apply directly
here. This Court there held that the reliance requirement pre-
cludes aiding and abetting liability in private actions. “Were
we to allow the aiding and abetting action proposed in this
case,” the Court stated, “the defendant could be liable with-
out any showing that the plaintiff relied upon the aider and
abettor’s statements or actions. * * * Allowing plaintiffs to
circumvent the reliance requirement would disregard the
careful limits on 10b-5 recovery mandated by our earlier
cases.” 511 U.S. at 180. The absence of that “critical element
for recovery” barred aiding and abetting claims. Ibid. See id.
at 191 (defendant may be liable as a primary violator only
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when it “makes a material misstatement or omission on
which a purchaser or seller of securities relies”).

Central Bank thus recognized that a plaintiff “must show
reliance on the defendant’s misstatement or omission to re-
cover under 10b-5.” 511 U.S. at 180 (emphasis added); see
Wright v. Ernst & Young, 152 F.3d 169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998)
(“‘reliance only on representations made by others cannot
itself form the basis of liability’”). As then-SEC Chairman
Levitt explained, under Central Bank a plaintiff “must show,
defendant by defendant, that the plaintiff reasonably relied on
the defendant’s misstatement or omission.” Abandonment of
the Private Right of Action for Aiding and Abetting Securities
Fraud, supra p. 4 n.1, 103d Cong. 51 (emphasis added). The
direct clash between this Court’s application of the reliance
requirement in Central Bank and plaintiff’s scheme theory
provides an indisputable basis for dismissal.

Here, plaintiff concedes that the Vendors did not com-
municate with Charter investors and does not allege that in-
vestors knew of the transactions at issue, the documents
increasing set-top box prices, or any statement made to Char-
ter of the reason for the price increase. Plaintiff’s attempt to
plead reliance rests on allegations that Charter issued false
financial statements that reflected commercial transactions
that Charter procured to carry out its fraud. See Pet. Br. 39
(arguing that reliance is satisfied by “a prior deceptive act,
from which the making of the false statements [to investors]
follows as a natural consequence”; the Vendors’ conduct “in-
directly induce[d] reliance”).10

10 There is a presumption of reliance for “misleading statement[s]
by the corporation” issuing a security, based upon the securities
laws’ “philosophy of full disclosure” by public corporations. Basic
Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 226, 230, 235 n.12 (1988). But that
presumption applies only to statements directed to the market.
Here, plaintiff has conceded that the Vendors made no such public
statement. Moreover, while it accords with “common sense and
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The fiction that plaintiffs who rely on a misstatement also
rely on the actions of every party alleged to have played
some behind-the-scenes role leading up to that misstatement
cannot be reconciled with Central Bank’s holding that plain-
tiffs must prove they relied on the actions of each individual
defendant. Indeed, that fiction would have led to a different
result on the facts of Central Bank itself. And it would effec-
tively eliminate reliance (or “transaction causation”) as a
limit on private securities fraud liability, changing it from an
inquiry designed to limit liability to those whose actions have
caused investors to trade to an open-ended inquiry into
whose actions made it possible for a public company to make
a misstatement—the very definition of aiding and abetting.

Congress’s response to Central Bank confirms that Sec-
tion 10(b) does not authorize private suits against secondary
actors who make no statements relied on by investors. The
SEC urged Congress to “restore” the aiding and abetting “li-
ability [Central Bank had] eliminated,” including private li-
ability for damages. S. Rep. No. 104-98, at 48. As we have
noted, Chairman Levitt stated that otherwise those who acted
“behind the scenes” or “whose assistance or acquiescence
may have been necessary to the fraud,” but who “did not
themselves directly make statements that were relied upon by
investors, may escape any liability to private parties.” Supra
p. 4 n.1. Congress rejected the SEC’s argument. “[P]rivate
aiding and abetting liability actions,” the Senate Report ex-
plained, “would be contrary to [the PSLRA’s] goal of reduc-
ing meritless securities litigation.” S. Rep. No. 104-98, at 19.

probability” to presume that an issuer’s false denial of merger
plans in public statements will affect the price of its stock (id. at
246), there is no warrant to presume that conduct of other com-
mercial entities will do so, as Central Bank recognizes—even less
so conduct that is unknown to investors, engaged in by commercial
parties who have no duty of disclosure to those investors.
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In enacting Section 20(e) as part of the PSLRA, Congress
chose not to write reliance out of private Rule 10b-5 litiga-
tion. Refusing to “restore private actions against aiders and
abettors,” Congress instead granted “the SEC express author-
ity to bring actions seeking injunctive relief or money dam-
ages against persons who knowingly aid and abet primary
violators of the securities laws”—enforcement actions in
which proof of reliance is not required. 4 BROMBERG &
LOWENFELS, SECURITIES FRAUD & COMMODITIES FRAUD

§ 7:307, at 7-503 (2d ed. 2007). This compromise legislation
was designed to “remov[e] the plaintiffs’ class action bar
from the equation” while protecting investors by granting the
SEC broad authority over secondary actors. Id. § 7:308, at 7-
506 (emphasis added). In the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Congress
again rejected entreaties to restore private aiding and abetting
liability. See supra, p. 4.

The language Congress used in Section 20(e) is telling.
Entitled “[p]rosecution of persons who aid and abet viola-
tions,” the amendment provides that “any person that know-
ingly provides substantial assistance to another person in
violation of a provision of this title * * * shall be deemed to
be in violation of such provision to the same extent as the
person to whom such assistance is provided.” 15 U.S.C.
§ 78t(e) (emphasis added). Congress thus equated “persons
who aid and abet violations” of Section 10(b) with those who
“provid[e] substantial assistance” to a violator. See INS v.
National Ctr. for Immigrants’ Rights, 502 U.S. 183, 189
(1991) (reading text and title of provision together). And in
finding it necessary to deem substantial assistance of a viola-
tion of Section 10(b) to be within the SEC’s enforcement
powers, Congress reaffirmed that the statute would not oth-
erwise reach those who provide substantial assistance. The
connection between Central Bank and the language of Sec-
tion 20(e) is clear: Central Bank held that there can be no
“showing that the plaintiff relied upon [an] aider and abet-
tor’s statements or actions” (511 U.S. at 180), and Congress
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responded by permitting actions against “persons who aid
and abet violations” to be brought only by the SEC, which is
not subject to the reliance requirement.

Plaintiff’s scheme theory is inconsistent with the plain
language of Section 20(e) and frustrates Congress’s consid-
ered decision to reject private aiding and abetting liability.
Congress provided an express SEC-enforced remedy against
those who substantially assist a public company’s fraud, and
“when Congress enacts a specific remedy when no remedy
was previously recognized,” as occurred in 1995, “the rem-
edy provided is generally regarded as exclusive.” Hinck v.
United States, 127 S. Ct. 2011, 2015 (2007); see EC Term of
Years Trust v. United States, 127 S. Ct. 1763, 1767 (2007)
(“‘a precisely drawn, detailed statute pre-empts more general
remedies’”—here, implied private remedies); Alexander v.
Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 290 (2001) (“[t]he express provision
of one method of enforcing a substantive rule suggests that
Congress intended to preclude others”).

B. Plaintiff’s Claim Does Not Fall Within The Scope
Of Conduct Prohibited By The Plain Language Of
Section 10(b).

Given the absence of any communication between the
Vendors and Charter investors and the complete lack of reli-
ance, it is hardly surprising that plaintiff’s scheme claim fails
to satisfy the statutory language Congress prescribed to place
limits on 10(b) liability. Central Bank confirmed that, in
“cases considering the scope of conduct prohibited by
§ 10(b) in private suits,” this Court has “emphasized adher-
ence to the statutory language.” Central Bank, 511 U.S. at
173. Here as in Central Bank the text of the statute estab-
lishes that plaintiff has no implied private right of action.

1. The Vendors did not “use or employ” a “deceptive
device” “in connection with” a securities transaction. Plain-
tiff focuses myopically (at 20-22) on the phrase “deceptive
device or contrivance.” Its principal argument targets a straw
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man: that our position and the court of appeals’ holding rest
on the principle that spoken or written words are essential to
prove a § 10(b) violation. In fact, we do not dispute that
communicative conduct—for example, presenting potential
investors with a misleading display that makes nonfunctional
factory equipment appear operational—may amount to a “de-
ceptive device or contrivance.”11

The particular conduct alleged here—false statements in
contracts between the Vendors and Charter—does not qualify
as a “deceptive device.” See BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 528
(3d ed. 1933) (“deceit” is an artifice used “to deceive and
trick another, who is ignorant of the true facts”). The alleged
scheme to mislead was Charter’s, not the Vendors’. The
Vendors dealt only with Charter, which was not ignorant of
the true facts and was not deceived in any way.

The phrase “deceptive device or contrivance,” moreover,
does not appear in isolation. Section 10(b) does not reach
every deceptive device; it prohibits only the use or employ-
ment of such devices in connection with the purchase or sale
of a security. The Court recently remarked on the importance
of statutory terms that, viewed in “context,” “limit the reach”
of potentially broader phrases. Dolan v. United States Postal
Serv., 546 U.S. 481, 486-487 (2006); see Gustafson v. Alloyd
Co., 513 U.S. 561, 575 (1995) (“a word is known by the
company it keeps”—a rule that “we rely upon to avoid * * *
giving ‘unintended breadth to the Acts of Congress’”).

“Use” and “employ” are active verbs. “Use” signifies
“active employment.” Jones v. United States, 529 U.S. 848,

11 References to “misrepresentations,” “omissions,” and “conduct”
in the PSLRA and SLUSA show only that Section 10(b) liability
may rest on manipulative conduct or conduct that amounts to an
actionable misrepresentation. Contrary to plaintiff’s argument (at
21-22), they do not suggest that providing assistance to a primary
violator gives rise to a private damages action.
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855 (2000); see Bailey v. United States, 516 U.S. 137, 145
(1995) (the “‘ordinary or natural’ meaning” of “use” is “‘to
convert to one’s service’” or “‘to avail oneself of’”); WEB-

STER’S NEW INT’L DICTIONARY 839 (2d ed. 1934) (“employ”
is to “make use of, as an instrument, means, or material”).
The phrase “use or employ * * * any * * * deceptive device”
thus confirms that a party’s liability may not rest on a decep-
tive device used or employed by another. Rather, a defendant
is liable only if it engaged in the prohibited conduct of using
or employing a device to deceive investors.

In ordinary parlance, it cannot be said that A “uses” or
“employs” a deceptive device in dealings with B when B is
aware of the true facts—as was the case with the transactions
here. And if A agrees to assist B in deceiving a third person,
C, A still is not using or employing a deceptive device. A’s
actions can only be understood as facilitating the deception
practiced by B—facilitative conduct that Central Bank held
is not actionable under Section 10(b). See 511 U.S. at 177
(Section 10(b) does not proscribe “giving aid to a person who
commits a manipulative or deceptive act”).

Section 10(b) also requires that each defendant use or
employ a deceptive device “in connection with the purchase
or sale” of a security. To find that requirement satisfied here
would strip it of any practical meaning and improperly ex-
tend the scope of Section 10(b) to “cover the corporate uni-
verse.” Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 480; see Blue Chip Stamps v.
Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 733-734 & n.5 (1975) (the
“in connection with” requirement is “badly strained” when
construed to cover “the world at large”).

In United States v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 652-655
(1997), the Court held that a lawyer violated Section 10(b) by
trading securities based on information misappropriated from
his client in violation of a duty of trust, deceiving the client
by nondisclosure. In holding the “in connection with” re-
quirement satisfied, the Court stressed that the “securities
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transaction and the breach of duty * * * coincide”: the defen-
dant “use[d] the [misappropriated] information to purchase or
sell securities.” Id. at 656.

In contrast to that inseverable connection, the Court gave
an example of a deception that is too “detached from a sub-
sequent securities transaction” to satisfy Section 10(b): when
“‘a person defrauded a bank into giving him a loan or em-
bezzled cash from another, and then used the proceeds of the
misdeed to purchase securities.’” 521 U.S. at 656-657. In
those circumstances the “in connection with” requirement
“would not be met.” Id. at 657. The dissenting Justices in
O’Hagan would have required a closer connection still be-
tween the deception and the purchase or sale of a security.
521 U.S. at 679 (Scalia, J., dissenting); id. at 685-686 (Tho-
mas, J., and Rehnquist, C.J., dissenting).

Similarly, in SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813 (2002), the
defendant broker sold a customer’s securities in order to con-
vert the proceeds. These sales and fraudulent conversions
were not “independent events.” Id. at 820. Even though there
was no “misrepresentation about the value of a particular se-
curity,” the “in connection with” requirement was satisfied
by a failure to disclose where there was a duty to speak that
“coincided with the [securities] sales themselves.” Ibid. The
requirement would not, however, be satisfied if, “after a law-
ful transaction had been consummated, a broker decided to
steal the proceeds,” or “a thief simply invested the proceeds
of a routine conversion in the stock market.” Ibid. Accord
Merrill Lynch v. Dabit, 547 U.S. 71, 85 (2006) (insisting that
“the fraud alleged ‘coincide’ with a securities transaction—
whether by the plaintiff or by someone else”).

In each of these cases the trading was integral to the fraud
or there was a direct nexus between the deceptive conduct
and the trading of securities. The defendant traded on misap-
propriated information, traded to convert the proceeds to his
own use, or disseminated misstatements to investors. But the
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standards adopted in these cases make clear that the “in con-
nection with” requirement is not met when a defendant’s
conduct is as remote from securities trading as that alleged
here. See Zoelsch v. Arthur Andersen, 824 F.2d 27, 34-35
(D.C. Cir. 1987) (Bork, J.) (accountant’s misleading state-
ments to a foreign affiliate, which used them in preparing a
prospectus distributed to investors, were not made “in con-
nection with” securities purchases; the accountant’s answers
to private inquiries did not “establis[h] any particular rela-
tionship with the investing public,” and knowledge that its
statements “might be used in some later prospectus” was not
enough); Chemical Bank v. Arthur Andersen, 726 F.2d 930,
943-945 (2d Cir. 1984) (Friendly, J.) (“in connection with”
not satisfied by accountant’s misrepresentations regarding
public company that led banks to make loans, even though
the banks also obtained stock as security; “‘but-for’ causation
is not enough”); Rand v. Anaconda-Ericsson, Inc., 794 F.2d
843, 847-848 (2d Cir. 1986) (Winter, J.) (extending Section
10(b) to conduct “remote from transactions in the market for
capital,” such as misrepresentations about “a competitor’s
goods,” would produce “a virtually limitless legal theory”);
Taylor v. First Union Corp., 857 F.2d 240, 245-246 (4th Cir.
1988) (Wilkinson, J.) (rejecting claim where fraud was “tan-
gentially and incidentally related to the sale of plaintiff’s
stock”).

By juxtaposing the active verbs “use or employ” with the
“in connection with” requirement, Congress made clear that
the defendant’s active employment of a deceptive device
must be connected to the plaintiff’s securities transactions.
There is no such coincidence between the Vendors’ alleged
deceptive acts and plaintiff’s trading in Charter securities.
Once the Vendors independently supplied Charter with the
documents plaintiff says were deceptive, their alleged mis-
conduct was “complete.” O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 656. The
Vendors accounted for the transactions properly, had no con-
trol over Charter’s accounting for them, had no contact with


